IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FORTHE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATESOF AMERICA
CRIMINAL NO. 17-201-1(ABJ)(S5)
V. Violations: 18 U.S.C. 871
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SUPERSEDINGCRIMINAL INFORMATION

The SpecialCounseinformsthe Court:

1. PAUL J. MANAFORT, JR. (MANAFORT) servedfor yearsasa political consultantand
lobbyist. Betweeratleast2006and2015,MANAFORT conspiredvith Richardw. Gateq Gates)
KonstantinKilimnik (Kilimnik), andothersto act andacted asunregistereggentsof aforeign
governmentandpolitical party. Specifically, MANAFORT conspiredo actandactedasanagent
of the Government obJkraine, the Party of Regions(a Ukrainian political party whoseleader
Victor YanukovychwasPresidenfrom 2010to 2014),Presiden anukovych andthe Opposition
Bloc (asuccessoto the Partyof Regionghatformedin 2014whenYanukovychfled to Russia).
MANAFORT generateanorethan 60 million dollarsin incomeasaresultof his Ukrainework.
In orderto hide Ukraine paymentsom United Statesauthorities,from approximately2006
throughat least2016, MANAFORT, with the assistancef Gatesand Kilimnik, launderedthe
money througlscoresof United Statesandforeign corporationspartnershipsandbank accounts.

2. In furtherance of thescheme MANAFORT funneledmillions of dollarsin paymentsnto
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foreign nomineecompaniesand bank accounts,openedby him and his underlingsn nominee
namesand in various foreign countries, including CyprusSaint Vincent & the Grenadines
(Grenadines)andthe United Kingdom. MANAFORT hid theexistenceof theforeigncompanies
andbank accountdalsely andrepeatedlyeportingto his tax preparersandto the United States
thathehadnoforeignbankaccounts.

3. In furtheranceof theschemeMANAFORT concealedrom the United Stateshis work as
anagentof, andmillions of dollarsin paymentdrom, Ukraineandits political partiesandleaders.
BecauseMANAFORT directedacampaigrio lobby United Statesofficials andthe United States
mediaon behalfof the Government dilkraine,the Presidenbf Ukraine,andUkrainianpolitical
parties hewasrequiredoy law to reportto the United Stateshiswork andfees. MANAFORT did
not dosq, eitherfor himselfor anyof hiscompanies InsteadwhentheDepartmenbf Justicesent
inquiriesto MANAFORT in 2016 about hisictivities, MANAFORT respondedvith a seriesof
falseandmisleadingstatements.

4, In furtherance of theacheme MANAFORT used his hiddewoverseasealthto enjoy a
lavishlifestyle in the United Stateswithout payingtaxesonthatincome. MANAFORT, without
reportingtheincometo his bookkeeper otax prepares orto the United Statesspentmillions of
dollars on luxury goods arsgrvicedor himselfand hisextendedamily throughpaynmentswired
from offshorenominee accounts United Statesvendors. MANAFORT alsousedtheseoffshore
accountgo purchasenulti-million dollar propertiesn theUnited States.Manafortthenborrowed
millions of dollarsin loans usinghesepropertiesscollateral therebyobtainingcashin theUnited
Stateswithoutreportingandpayingtaxeson theincome. In orderto increaseéhe amount of money
he couldaccessn the United States Manafortdefraudedhe institutionsthat loanedmoney on
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thesepropeties sothat they wouldlend him more moneyat morefavorableratesthanhe would
otherwise bebleto obtain.

5. Manafort launderedmore than $30 million to buy property, goods,and servicesin the
United States,incomethat he concealedirom the United StatesTreasury,the Departmentof
Justiceandothers. MANAFORT cheatedhe United Statesout of over $15nillion in taxes.

RelevantIndividuals And Entities

6. MANAFORT was a United Statescitizen. He residedin homesin Virginia, Florida, and
Long Island,New York.

7. In 2005,MANAFORT and another partnereatedavisManafortPartnersinc. (DMP) to
engageprincipally in political consulting. DMP had staf in the United States,Ukraine, and
Russia. In 2011, MANAFORT createdDMP International, LLC (DMI) to engagein work for
foreignclients,in particularpolitical consulting, lobbyingandpublicrelationsfor the Government
of Ukraine,the Partyof Regims,andmembersf the Partyof Regions. DMI wasa partnership
solely ownedby MANAFORT and his spouse.GatesandKilimnik workedfor both DMP and
DMI andservedascloseconfidants oMANAFORT.

8. The Party of Regionswas a pro-Russia political party in Ukraine. Beginning in
approximately2006, it retained MANAFORT, through DMP and then DMI, to advanceits
interestsin Ukraine,including theelectionof its slateof candidates.In 2010, its candidatefor
PresidentYanukovychwaselectedPresidenbf Ukraine. In 2014, Yanukovycliled Ukrainefor
Russiain thewakeof popular protests afidespreadjovernmental corruptionYanukovych, the
Partyof Regionsandthe Government dfkrainewereManafort DMP, andDMI clients.

9. The EuropearnCentrefor a ModernUkraine (the Centre)was createdn or about 2012n

3



Belgium as a mouthpiece for Yanukovych and the Party of Regions. The Centre was used by
MANAFORT and others in order to lobby and conduct a public relations campaign in the United
States and Europe on behalf of the existing Ukraine regime. The Centre effectively ceased to
operate upon the downfall of Yanukovych in 2014.

10. MANAFORT owned or controlled the following entities, which were used in the scheme

(the MANAFORT entities):
Domestic Entities

Entity Name Date Created Incorporation Location

August 2008 Virginia
Daisy Manafort, LLC (PM)

March 2011 Florida
Davis Manafort International LLC March 2007 Delaware
(PM)

March 2005 Virginia
DMP (PM)

March 2011 Florida

October 1999 Delaware
Davis Manafort, Inc. (PM)

November 1999 Virginia

June 2011 Delaware
DMI (PM)

March 2012 Florida
Global Sites LLC (PM) July 2008 Delaware
Jesand Investment Corporation (PM) | April 2002 Virginia
Jesand Investments Corporation (PM) |March 2011 Florida

April 2006 Virginia
John Hannah, LLC (PM)

March 2011 Florida
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Entity Name Date Created Incorporation Location
Lilred, LL.C (PM) December 2011 Florida
LOAV Ltd. (PM) April 1992 Delaware
MC Brooklyn Holdings, LLC (PM) November 2012 New York

January 2012 Florida
MC Soho Holdings, LLC (PM)

April 2012 New York
Smythson LLC (also known as July 2008 Delaware
Symthson LLC) (PM)

Cypriot Entities

Entity Name Date Created Incorporation Location
Actinet Trading Limited May 2009 Cyprus
Black Sea View Limited August 2007 Cyprus
Bletilla Ventures Limited October 2010 Cyprus
Cavenari Investments Limited December 2007 Cyprus
Global Highway Limited August 2007 Cyprus
Leviathan Advisors Limited August 2007 Cyprus
LOAYV Advisors Limited August 2007 Cyprus
Lucicle Consultants Limited December 2008 Cyprus
Marziola Holdings Limited March 2012 Cyprus
Olivenia Trading Limited March 2012 Cyprus
Peranova Holdings Limited June 2007 Cyprus




Entity Name Date Created Incorporation Location

Serangon Holdings Limited January 2008 Cyprus

Yiakora Ventures Limited February 2008 Cyprus

Other Foreion Entities

Entity Name Date Created Incorporation Location

Global Endeavour Inc. (also known as | October 2012 Grenadines
Global Endeavor Inc.)

Jeunet Ltd. August 2011 Grenadines

Pompolo Limited April 2013 United Kingdom

11. The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) was a bureau in the United States Department of the
Treasury responsible for administering the tax laws of the United States and collecting taxes owed
to the Treasury.
The Scheme

12. Between in or around 2006 and 2017, both dates being approximate and inclusive, in the
District of Columbia and elsewhere, MANAFORT and others devised and intended to devise, and
executed and attempted to execute, a scheme and artifice to defraud, and to obtain money and
property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises from the United
States, banks, and other financial institutions. As part of the scheme, MANAFORT repeatedly
provided false information to financial bookkeepers, tax accountants, and legal counsel, among

others.



MANAFORT’s Wiring Of Money From Offshore Accounts Into The United States

13. In order to use the money in the offshore nominee accounts of the MANAFORT entities

without paying taxes on it, MANAFORT caused millions of dollars in wire transfers from these

accounts to be made for goods, services, and real estate. He did not report these transfers as income

to DMP, DMIL or MANAFORT.

14.  From 2008 to 2014, MANAFORT caused the following wires, totaling over $12,000,000,

to be sent to the vendors listed below for personal items. MANAFORT did not pay taxes on this

income, which was used to make the purchases.

Payee Transaction Originating Account Country of Amount of
Date Holder Origination | Transaction
S.P.&C. Home 6/10/2008 | LOAV Advisors Limited Cyprus $107,000
Improvement 6/25/2008 | LOAV Advisors Limited Cyprus $23,500
Inc. 7/7/2008 | LOAV Advisors Limited Cyprus $20,000
(Home 8/5/2008 | Yiakora Ventures Limited | Cyprus $59.,000
Imp rovem.ent 9/2/2008 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $272,000
;‘;21’:‘(‘)13;“‘1;:; 10/6/2008 | Yiakora Ventures Limited | Cyprus $109,000
YorkI; ’ 10/24/2008 | Yiakora Ventures Limited | Cyprus $107.800
11/20/2008 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $77,400
12/22/2008 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $100,000
1/14/2009 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $9,250
1/29/2009 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $97,670
2/25/2009 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $108,100
4/16/2009 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $94,394
5/7/2009 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $54,000
5/12/2009 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $9,550
6/1/2009 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $86,650
6/18/2009 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $34.400
7/31/2009 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $106,000
8/28/2009 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $37,000
9/23/2009 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $203,500
10/26/2009 | Yiakora Ventures Limited Cyprus $38.,800
11/18/2009 | Global Highway Limited Cyprus $130,906
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MANAFORT's Hiding Of UkraineLobbyingAnd PublicRelationsWork

17. MANAFORT knew it was illegal to lobby governmenbfficials and engagein public
relationsactivities(hereinaftercollectivelyreferredto aslobbying)in the United Stateson behalf
of aforeign government opolitical party, withoutregisteringwith the United StatesGovernment
under theForeignAgentsRegistrationAct.  MANAFORT knew hewaslobbyingin the United
Statedor the Government dfikraine,Presiden¥iktor F. Yanukovych,thePaty of Regionsand
the OppositiorBloc (the lattertwo beingpolitical partiesin Ukraine),andthus hewas supposed
to submit a written registration statementto the United States Departmentof Justice.
MANAFORT knewthatthefiling wasrequiredto disclose th@ameof theforeigncountry,all the
financialpaymentgo thelobbyist,andthespecificstepsundertakenfor theforeign countryin the
United Statesamongotherinformation.

18. MANAFORT knewthatUkrainehadastronginterestn theUnited Statestaking economic
and policy positions favorablgéo Ukraine, including not imposing sanctions ddkraine.
MANAFORT also knew that the trial and treatmentof Presidentyanukovych’spolitical rival,
former Prime Minister Yulia Tymoshenkowas strongly condemnedly leadingUnited States
executiveandlegislativebranchofficials, andwasamajor hurdleto improvingUnited Statesand
Ukrainerelations.

19. From 2006 until 2005MANAFORT led a multi-million dollar lobbyingcampaignin the
United Statesat thedirectionof the Governmerf Ukraine,Presidentyanukovych the Partyof
Regions,and the OppositiorBloc. MANAFORT intentionally did so without registeringand
providing the disclosuragquiredby law.

20. Aspartof the lobbyingschemeMANAFORT hired numeroudirms andpeopleto assistn
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his lobbyingcampaigrin theUnited States.He hired Companie#\, B, C, D, andE, andLaw Firm
A, amongothersto participatan whathedescribedo Presidentyanukovychin writing asa global
“Engage Ukraine” lobbyingampaignthat he devisedandled. Thesecompaniesandlaw firm
werepaidthe equivalent of over $Itillion for their Ukrainework.

21. MANAFORT viewedsecrecyfor himselfandfor theactionsof his lobbyistsasintegralto
the effectivenes®f the lobbying offensive herchestratedor Ukraine. Filing under the~oreign
AgentsRegistratiorAct would havehwartedthesecrecyMANAFORT soughiin orderto conduct
aneffectivecampaigrfor Ukraineto influenceboth Americanleadersandthe Americanpubilic.
22. MANAFORT took stepsto avoid any of thesefirms and peopledisclosingtheir lobbying
efforts under the~oreigh AgentsRegistrationAct. As oneexample.eventhoughMANAFORT
engagedCompany Ein 2007 to lobby in the United Statesfor the Government obkraine,
MANAFORT triedto dissuade Companyfeom filing under thd=oreignAgentsRegistratiorAct.
Only afterMANAFORT ceasedo use Company i thefall of 2007 did Company E discloge
work for Ukraine,in abelatedfiling under theAct in 2008.

23. MANAFORT took othemmeasure$o keepthe Ukraine lobbyingssecretaspossible.For
example, MANAFORT, in written communications on or aboMay 16, 2013,directed his
lobbyists(including Person®1 andD2, who workedfor CompanyD) to write anddisseminate
within the United Statesnewsstoriesthat allegedthat Tymoshenkdadpaid for the murder of a
Ukrainianofficial. MANAFORT statedthatit should be “push[ed]*[w]ith no fingerprints.”“It
is very importantwe haveno connection."MANAFORT statedthat“[m]y goalis to plant some
stinkonTymo.” PersorD1 objectedo the plan, butilltimatelyPerson®1 andD2 compliedwith
MANAFORT's direction. TheForeignAgentsRegistratiomAct requiredMANAFORT to disclose
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suchlobbying,asMANAFORT knew. He did not.

The Hapsburg Group and Company D

24. As partof the lobbyingschemestartingin 2011, MANAFORT secretlyretainedCompany

D anda group of fouformer Europearheadsof stateand seniorofficials (including aformer
Austrian Chancellor ltalian Prime Minister, and Polish President}o lobby in the United States
and Europe onbehalf of Ukraine. The former politicians, called the Hapsburg Grouppy
MANAFORT, appearedo be providingsolely their independenassessmenist Governmenbf
Ukrainepolicies,whenin fact theywerepaid by Ukraine. MANAFORT explainedn an“EYES
ONLY” memorandunin or about June 201that his purposevasto “assemblea small group of
high-level Europeaninfuencial [sic] championsand politically credible friends who can act
informally andwithoutanyvisible relationshipwith the Government dfkraine.”

25. Through MANAFORT, the Government of Ukraineetained an additional group of
lobbyists(Company DandPerson®1 andD2). In additionto lobbyingitself, Company Bsecretly
servedasintermediariedbetweenthe Hapsburg Groupnd MANAFORT and the Governmenf o
Ukraine. In or about 2012hrough 2013, MANAFORT directed more than the equivalent of
700,000 euros to be wired from at least three of his offshore accounts to the benefit of Company
D to pay secretly for its services.

26. All four HapsburgGroup members,at the direction,and with the direct assistancepf
MANAFORT, advocated positions favorabl® Ukraine in meetings with United States
lawmakers,interviews with United Statesjournalists,and ghostwritten op-edsin American
publications.In or about 2012 through 201MAN AFORT directedmorethan2 million eurosto
bewired from atleastfour of hisoffshoreaccountgo paysecretlythe Hapsburg GroupTo avoid
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Europeartaxation thecontractwith the Hapsburg Groujlselystatedhatnone ofits work would
takeplacein Europe.

27. One of the HapsburGroupmembersaformerPolishPresidentyasalsoarepresentative
of the EuropeaParliamentith oversight responsibilitior Ukraine. MANAFORT solicitedthat
official to provide MANAFORT inside information about the EuropeRarliament’sviews and
actionstoward Ukraine andto take actionsfavorableto Ukraine. MANAFORT also usedthis
Hapsburg Groupnember’scurrentEuropearParliamentpositionto Ukraine’s advantagen his
lobbyingeffortsin theUnited States.In thefall of 2012, thdJnited StatesSenatavasconsidering
andultimately passed resolutiorcritical of Presidentyanukovych’streatmentof former Prime
Minister Tymoshenko. MANAFORT engagedn an all-out campaignto try to kill or delaythe
passagef this resolution. Among thestepshe tookwas having the Hapsburg Groupembers
reachout to United StatesSenatorsas well as directing Companies Aand B to have private
conversationsvith Senators¢o lobbythemto placea “hold” on the resolutionMANAFORT told
his lobbyiststo stresgo the SenatorghattheformerPolishPresidentvho wasadvocatingagainst
the resolutionwas currently a designatedrepresentativeof the Presidentof the European
Parliament,to give extra clout to his supposedly independent judgmeggiast the Senate
resolution. MANAFORT neverrevealedto the Senatorsor to the American public that any of
theseobbyistsor Hapsburg Groumembersverepaidby Ukraine.

28. In anotherexample,on May 16, 2013, anothanemberof the Hapsburg Group lobbied in
the United Statesfor Ukraine. The Hapsburg Groupnemberaccompaniedhis country’sprime
ministerto the Oval Office andmetwith thePresidenandVice Presidenbf theUnited Statesas
well as senior United Statesofficials in the executiveand legislative branches. In written
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communicationssentto MANAFORT, PersonD1 reportedthat the Hapsburg Groumember
deliveredthemessagef notletting “RussiansStealUkrainefrom theWest.” TheForeignAgents
RegistratiorAct requiredMANAFORT to disclosesuchlobbying,asMANAFORT knew. He did
not.

Law Firm Report and Tymoshenko

29. As anothemart of the lobbyingschemejn 2012, onbehalfof Presidentyanukovychand
the Government dflkraine’sMinistry of Justice MANAFORT solicitedaUnited Statedaw firm
to write a report evaluatingthe trial of Yanukovych’spolitical opponentYulia Tymoshenko.
MANAFORT causedJkraineto hire the law firm sothatits reportcould beusedin the United
States and elsewhereto defend the Tymoshenkocriminal trial and argue that President
YanukovychandUkrainehadnotengagedn selectve prosecution.

30. MANAFORT retaineda publicrelationsfirm (CompanyC) to prepareamediaroll-outplan
for thelaw firm report. MANAFORT usedone of hisoffshoreaccountd¢o pay Company C the
equivalent oimorethan$1 million for its services.

31. MANAFORT workedcloselywith Company Go develop aetailedwritten lobbyingplan
in connectiorwith what MANAFORT termedthe“selling” of the report. This campaigrincluded
gettingthelaw firm’s report“seeded™o thepressin the United States—thatis, to leakthereport
aheadof its official releasdo a prominentUnited Statesnewspapeandthen usehatinitial article
to influencereportingglobally. As partof theroll-out plan, on theeport'sissuanceon December
13, 2012, MANAFORT arrangedo have thdaw firm dissennate hard copies of theaeportto
numerous governmeifficials, including seniotUnited Statesexecutiveand legislativebranch
officials.
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32. MANAFORT reportedon the law firm’s work on thereportand CompanyC'’s lobbying
plan to PresidentYanukovychand other representativesf the Government oblkraine. For
examplejn a July 27, 2012 memoranduaPresidentyanukovych’sChief of Staff, MANAFORT
reportedon “the global rolloutstrategyfor the[law firm’s] legalreport,andprovide[d] adetailed
plan of action[]” which includedstepby-steplobbying outreachin the United States.

33. MANAFORT directedlobbyiststo tout thereportas showingthat Presidentyanukovych
hadnotselectivelyprosecuted Tymoshenk®&ut in November 2012MANAFORT hadbeentold
privatelyin writing by thelaw firm thattheevidenceof Tymoshenko’sriminalintent “is virtually
non-existent’andthatit wasunclearevenamonglegal expertshat Tymoshenkdackedpowerto
engagen the conductentralto the Ukrainecriminal case. Thesefacts,knownby MANAFORT,
werenotdisclosedo the public.

34. Manafortknew that the repodlsodid not disclosé¢hat the law firm, in additionto being
retainedto write thereport,wasretainedto representJkraineitself, includingin connectiorwith
the Tymoshenkaaseandto providetrainingto thetrial teamprosecutingl'ymostenko.

35. MANAFORT alsoknewthatthe Government of Ukraine did neaintto disclose hownuch
thereportcost. More than $4.@nillion waspaidto thelaw firm for its work. MANAFORT used
one of his offshoraccountdo funnel $4million to paythelaw firm, afactthatMANAFORT did
not discloseo the public. Insteadthe Government of Ukrainmeportedfalselythatthereportcost
just $12,000.

36. MANAFORT andothers knewthat the actualcostof thereportandthe scope of theaw
firm’s work would undermine theeport’'sbeingperceivedasanindependenassessmermndthus
beinganeffectivelobbying toolfor MANAFORT to useto support thencarceratiorof President
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Yanukovych’spolitical opponent.

37. In addition to the law firm report, MANAFORT took otherstes on behalf of the
Governmenbdf Ukraineto tarnishTymoshenkon theUnited States.In additionto disseminating
storiesabouther soliciting murder,noted abovein October2012, MANAFORT orchestratedh
schemeéo have,ashewrotein a contemporaneous communicatig@]bamajews” put pressure
on theAdministrationto disavow Tymoshenko and support YanukovyShWANAFORT sought
to undermindJnited Statessupportfor Tymoshenkdy spreadingstoriesin theUnited Stateghat
a seniorCabinet official (who had been a prominentcritic of Yanukovych’streatmentof
Tymoshenko)vas supportinganttSemitismbecausehe official supported Tymoshenkaho in
turn had formed a political alliance with a Ukraine party that espousedantiSemitic
views. MANAFORT coordiratedprivately with a seniorisraeli governmenbfficial to issuea
written statemenpublicizing this story. MANAFORT then,with secretadvance knowledge of
thatlIsraelistatementyorkedto disseminatehis storyin the United Stateswriting to PersorD1
“I havesomeone pushingon theNY Post. Badabing bada boom. MANAFORT soughto have
the Administrationunderstandhat“the Jewishcommunitywill takethis out onObamaonelection
day if he does nothing.” MANAFORT then told his United Stateslobbyist to inform the
Administrationthat Ukraine had workedto preventthe Administration’s presidentialopponent
from includingdamaginganguagen theIsraelistatementsoasnotto harmthe Administration,
andthusfurtheringratiateYanukovychwith the Administration.

Company A and Company B

38. As athird part of the lobbyingscheme,in February2012, MANAFORT solicited two
WashingtonD.C. lobbyingfirms (Company Aand CompanyB) to lobbyin the United Stateson
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behalf of PresidentYanukovych, theParty of Regionsand the Government obUkraine. For
instancejn early 2012at the inceptiorof the relationship, Company Brote in an emailto its
teamabout d'potentialrepresentatiofor the Ukraine,” havindpeencontacted‘at the suggestion
of PaulManafortwho hasbeenworking on thecurrentPM elections.”

39. MANAFORT arrangedto pay Compaies A and B over $2million from his offshore
accountdor their United Statedobbyingwork for Ukraine.

40. MANAFORT provided diectionto Companies AandB in their lobbyingefforts,including
providing supportfor numerousUnited Statesvisits by numerous seniokrainian officials.
Companies AandB, at MANAFORT's direction,engagedn extensiveUnited Staeslobbying.
Among oherthings,they lobbied dozens dflembersof Congresstheir staff, andWhite House
andStateDepartmenbfficials about Ukraine sanctions, thalidity of Ukraineelectionsandthe
propriety ofPresidentyanukovych’s imprisoning Tymoshenko, his presitmival.

41. In addition,with theassistancef CompanyA, MANAFORT alsopersonally lobbieth the
United States. He draftedand edited numerous ghosixitten op-edsfor publicationin United
StatesnewspapersHe alsopersonallymetin March 2013in Washington, D.C.with a Member
of Congressvho wason asubcommitteghathad Ukrainewithin its purview. After themeeting,
MANAFORT prepareda report for PresidentYanukovychthat the meeting“went well” and
reporteda seriesof positive developments for Ukraifim themeeting.

42. Indeed,MANAFORT repeatedlycommunicatedn personandin writing with President
Yanukovychand his staff about the lobbyingctivitiesof Companies AandB and hetaskedthe
companiego prepareassessmentsd theirwork so he, in turn, couldbrief Presidentyanukovych.
ForinstanceMANAFORT wrote Presidentyanukovych a memorandudatedApril 8, 2012n
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which he providedanupdate orthelobbyingfirms’ activities“sincetheinceptionof the project a
few weeksago. It is my intentionto provideyou with a weekly update movingorward.” In
November 201X5atesnvroteto Companies AandB thatthefirms neededo prepareanassessment
of their pastand prospective lobbyingfforts so the “President”could be briefedby “Paul’ “on
what Ukraine has donewell and what it can do betteras we moveinto 2013.” The resulting
memorandunfrom Companies AndB, with inputfrom Gateshoted among other thingisatthe
“client” hadnotbeenassuccessfuashopedgiventhatit hadan Embassyin Washington.

43. To distancetheir United Stateslobbying work from the Governmenof Ukraine,andto
avoid havingto registeras agens of Ukraine under theForeign Agents RegistrationAct,
MANAFORT with othersarrangedfor Companies Aand B to be engagedoy a newly-formed
Brusselsentity calledthe Europeafentrefor the ModerrUkraine(the Centre) insteadof directly
by the Government of Ukraine.

44, MANAFORT describedthe Centre as “the BrusselsNGO that we have formed” to
coordinate lobbyindor Ukraine. TheCentrewasfoundedoy aUkrainePartyof Regionamember
and UkraineFirst VicePrimeMinister. The headof its Boardwasanothermemberof the Party
of Regionswho becamehe Ukraing~oreignMinister.

45. In spite of theseties to Ukraine, MANAFORT and othersarrangedfor the Centreto
represenfalsely that it was not “directly or indirectly superviseddirected,[or] controlled” in
whole orin majorpartby the Government of Ukraine or tRartyof Regions. MANAFORT knew
thatthefalseandmislealing representationould lead Companies AandB notto registertheir
activitiespursuanto the ForeignAgentsRegistrationAct.

46. Despitethe Centrebeing the ostensibldient of Companies AandB, MANAFORT knew
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that the Centre did not direct or overge their work. The firms received direction from

MANAFORT andhis subordinat&ates,onbehalfof the Government dikraine.

47. Variousemployeeof Companies Aand B understoodhat they werereceivingdirection
from MANAFORT andPresidentyanukovych, not theCentre,which was not evenoperational
whenCompanies A and Beganlobbyingfor Ukraine. MANAFORT, Gatesandemployeef

both Compaies A andB referredto theclientin waysthatmadeclearthey knewit wasUkraine,
for instancenotingthatthe ‘client” hadan Embassyn WashingtorD.C. The headof Company
B told histeamto think the Presidenbf Ukraine“is theclient.” As aCompanyA employeenoted
to anothecompanyemployeethe lobbyingor the Centrewas“in nameonly. [Y]ou've gottasee
through the nonsense of that[.]lt's like Alice in Wonderland.” An employeeof Company B
describedhe Centreasafig leaf, andthe Centre’swritten certificationthatit was not relatedto

thePartyof Regionsas“a fig leafon afig leaf,” referringto theCentrein anemailasthe“European
hot dogstandfor a ModernUkraine.”

Conspiringto ObstructlusticeFalseandMisleadingSubmissions$o the Departmenbf Justice

48. In SeptembeR016,afternumeroupressreports concerningIANAFORT hadappearedh

August, theDepartmenbf JusticeNationalSecurityDivision informedMANAFORT, Gatesand
DMI in writing thatit soughtto determinewvhethertheyhadactedasagentsof aforeignprincipal
under theForeignAgentsRegistrationAct, withoutregstering. In November2016andFebruary
2017, MANAFORT and Gates conspiredto knowingly and intentionally cause false and
misleadingletters to be submittedto the Departmentof Justice,through his unwittingegal

counsel. Theletters,both ofwhich were approvedy MANAFORT before theywere submitted
by his counselrepresenteéalsely, amongother thingsthat:
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a. DMI's “efforts on behalf of the Party of Regions”“did not includemeetingsor

outreachwithin the U.S.”;

b. MANAFORT did not “recall meeting with or conductingoutreachto U.S.

governmenbfficials or U.S. mediaoutletson behalf of thgCentre],nor do theyrecall

being party to, arranging,or facilitating any such communications. Rather, it is the

recollection andunderstanding dflessrs.GatesandManafortthat suchcommunications
would havebeenfacilitatedand conductedy the[Centre’s]U.S. consultantsasdirected
by the[Centre].. ..”;

C. MANAFORT hadmerelyservedas a meansof introduction of Company And

Company Bto the Centreand provided theCentrewith a list of “potential U.S-based
consultants—including [Compa®y] and[CompanyB]—for the[Centre’s]referenceand

furtherconsideration”; and

d. DMI “does not retaincommunication$eyondthirty days” andasaresultof this

policy, a“searchhasreturnedno responsive documents.The November 2018etter

attacheda onepage,undateddocumentthat purportedto be aDMI “Email Retention
Policy.”

In fact, MANAFORT had:selectedCompaiesA andB; enga@edin weeklyscheduleaalls

andfrequentemailswith Compaies A andB to providethemdirectionsasto specificlobbying

stepsthat should be taken; soughhdreceiveddetailedoral andwritten reportsfrom thesefirms

on the lobbyingvork theyhadperformed;communicatedvith Yanukovychto brief him ontheir

lobbyingefforts; bothcongratulateé@ndreprimandedCompaiesA andB ontheir lobbyingwork;

communicateddirectly with United Statesofficials in connectionwith this work; and paid the
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lobbyingfirms over $2.5million from offshoreaccounts he controlled, among other things.
50. Although MANAFORT hadrepresentedo the Departmentof Justicein November 2016
and February2017 that he had no relevantdocumentsjn fact MANAFORT had numerous
incriminaing documentsn his possessiorgs he knewat the time. The FederalBureau of
Investigationconducted a court-authorizegarchof MANAFORT’S homein Virginia in the
summerof 2017. ThedocumentsattachederetoasGovernmenkExhibits503, 504, 517, 532, 594,
604, 606, 616, 691, 692, 697, 786d 708, among numerous othergere all documentghat
MANAFORT hadin hispossessiorcustodyor control(andwerefoundin thesearch andall pre-
datedtheNovember2016letter.

Money Laundering Conspiracy

51. In or aroundand between2006 and 2016, MANAFORT, togetherwith others, did

knowingly andintentionallyconspirga) to conductfinancialtransactionsaffectinginterstateand
foreign commerce which involved theproceedsof specified unlawful activity, to wit, felony
violations of FARA in violation of Title 22, United StatesCode,Sections612and618, knowing
that the property involvedn the financial transactiongepresentegroceeds of somirm of

unlawful activity, with intentto engagen conduct conguting a violation of sections7201and
7206 of the InternaRevenueCode of 1986and(b) to transporttransmit,andtransfermonetary
instrumentsandfundsfrom placesoutside thdJnited Statesto andthroughplacesin the United
Statesandfrom places in the United Stateso andthroughplacesoutside theéJnited Stateswith

the intentto promote thecarryingon of specifiedunlawful activity, to wit: afelony violation of

FARA, in violation of Title 22, United StatesCode,Sections612and 618, contary to Title 18,

United StatesCode,Section1956a)(1)(A)(ii) and(a)(2)(A).
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obligationsto the United States.

54. First,theBankSecrecyAct andits implementingregulationgequireUnited Statescitizens
to reportto the United StatesTreasuryany financial interestin, or signatory authority oveany

bankaccountor otherfinancialaccounteldin foreign countriesfor everycalendaryearin which

the aggregatbalanceof all suchforeign accountseexceeds$10,000at any point during theyear.

This is commonly knowras a foreign bankaccountreportor “FBAR.” The Bank SecrecyAct

requireshes reportsbecause¢heyhaveahigh degree of usefulness criminal, tax, or regulatory
investigationsor proceedings. The United StatesTreasury’sFinancial Crimes Enforcement
Network (FINCEN)is the custodiarfor FBAR filings, andFinCEN providesaccesgo its FBAR

databasé¢o law enforcemenentities,including theFederalBureauof Investigation. The reports
filed by individuals and businesseare usedby law enforcemento identify, detect,and deter
money launderingthat furthers criminal enterpriseactivity, tax evasion,and other unlawful
activities.

55. SecondUnited Statescitizensalsoareobligatedto reportinformationto the IRS regarding
foreignbank accountsForinstancejn 2010Form 1040, Schedule Bada*“Yes” or “No” boxto

recordananswelto the question'At anytime during [thecalendarear],did you haveaninterest
in or a signature or other authority ovefirmncial accountin aforeign country,suchasa bank
accountsecuritiesaccount,or otherfinancial account?” If theanswemwas“Yes,” thentheform

requiredthetaxpayerto enterthe nameof theforeign countryin which thefinancialaccountwas
located.

56. For eachyearin or aboutand between2007 throughat least 2014, MANAFORT had
authorityover foreign accountghat requiredan FBAR report. Specifically, MANAFORT was
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requiredto reportto the United StatesTreasuryeachforeign bankaccountheld by the foreign
MANAFORT entities noted abovein paragraph10. No FBAR reports were made by
MANAFORT for theseaccounts.

57. Furthermore,in each of MANAFORT's tax filings for 2007 through 20l14Manafort
representedalselythathe did nothaveauthority overanyforeign bank accountsMANAFORT
had repeatedly and falsely representedin writing to MANAFORT’s tax preparer that
MANAFORT had no authority over foreign bank accounts, knowinghat such false
representationwould resultin false MANAFORT taxfilings. Forinstancepn October 4, 2011,
MANAFORT's tax prepareraskedMANAFORT in writing: “At anytime during 2010, did/ou
[or your wife or children] havean interestin or a signature or other authority ovefirgancial
accountin a foreign country, such as a bankaccount,securitiesaccountor otherfinancial
account?”Onthesameday, MANAFORT falselyrespondedNO.” MANAFORT respondethe
sameway asrecentlyas October3, 2016,when MANAFORT's tax prepareragainemailedthe
guestionn connectiorwith thepreparatiorof MANAFORT's taxreturns:*Foreignbank accounts
etc.?” MANAFORT responded on or about tekemeday: “NONE.”

MANAFORT's FraudTo IncreaseAccessTo OffshoreMoney

58. After MANAFORT usedhis offshoreaccountgo purchaseeal estaten theUnited States,
he took out mortgagesn the propertiesherebyallowing MANAFORT to have thebenefitsof
liquid incomewithoutpayingtaxesonit. Further, MANAFORT defraudedhe bankghatloaned
him the moneothathe could withdrawnoremoneyat a cheaperatethanhe otherwise would
havebeenpermitted.

59. In 2012,MANAFORT, through acorporatevehicle called “MC Soho HoldingsLLC”
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ownedby him andhisfamily, bought a condominium ddowardStreetin the Soho neighborhood
in ManhattanNew York. He paid approximately$2,850,000.All the moneyusedto purchase
the condominiuntamefrom MANAFORT entitiesin Cyprus. MANAFORT usedthe property
from at least January2015 through 201&s an incomegeneratingrental property, charging
thousands of dollarsvaeekon Airbnb, amongtherplaces.In histax returns MANAFORT took
advantagef thebeneficialtax consequencesf owningthisrentalproperty.

60. Alsoin 2012,MANAFORT -- through acorporatevehiclecalled“MC Brooklyn Holdings,
LLC” similarly ownedby himandhisfamily -- bought a brownstone dwnion Streetn theCarroll
Gardenssectionof Brooklyn, New York. He paid approximately$3,000,000in cashfor the
property. All of thatmoneycamefrom aMANAFORT entityin Cyprus.

COUNT ONE

Conspiracy Against The United States

61. Paragraphg through 6Greincorporatechere.

62. Fromin or aboutandbetween2006and2017, bothdatesbeingapproximateandinclusive,
in the District of Columbiaand elsewherethe defendantPAUL J. MANAFORT, JR.,together
with others, includingsatesandKilimnik, knowingly andintentionallyconspiredo defraudthe

United Statesby impeding, impairing, obstructing,and defeating the lawful governmental
functions of a governmeimtgency,namelythe Departmenbf Justiceand the Departmenbf the
Treasury,and to commit offensesagainstthe United States, to wit, (a) money laundeng (in

violation of 18U.S.C. 8§ 1956);(b) tax fraud (in violation of 26 U.S.C.8 7206(1));(c) failing to

file ForeignBank Account Reportgin violationof 31 U.S.C. 88 531and5322(b));(d) violating

the ForeignAgentsRegstrationAct (in violation of 22 U.S.C. 88 61418(a)(1),and618(a)(2));
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and(e) lying andmisrepresentingp theDepartmenof Justicg(in violationof 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)
and 22 U.S.C. 88 613and618(a)(2))

63. In furtheranceof the conspiracyandto effectits illegal object MANAFORT, togethemwith
others,committedthe overtacts,in the District of Columbiaand elsewhereassetforth in the
paragraphs aboveihich areincorporatederein.

(18 U.S.C. §8 37hAnd3551etseq)

COUNT TWO

Conspiracy to Obstruct Justice (Withess Tampering)

64. Paragraphg through 6Greincorporatechere.

65. From in or aboutand betweenFebruary23, 2018and April 2018, bothdatesbeing
approximateandinclusive,within theDistrict of Columbiaandelsewherethe defendarPAUL J.
MANAFORT, JR., together with others, including KonstantirKilimnik, knowingly and
intentionally conspiredto corruptly persuadeanotherperson,to wit: PersondD1 and D2, with
intent to influence,delay and prevent theestimonyof any personin an official proceedingjn
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(1).

66. On February22, 2018, MANAFORT was chargedin the District of Columbiain a
Superseding Indictmethatfor thefirst time includedallegationsabout the Hapsburg Groamd
MANAFORT's useof thatgroupto lobbyillegally in the United Statesn violation of theForeign
AgentRegistratiolPAct. MANAFORT knewthattheAct prescribednly United Statedobbying.
Immediatelyafter February 22, 2018//ANAFORT beganreachingoutdirectly andindirectly to
Person®1 andD2 to inducethemto sayfalselythatthey did notwork in theUnited Statesaspart
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(18U.S.C. 88 37hnd3551etseq)

FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS

68. Upon conviction of the offense chargedin Count One, the defendantPAUL J.
MANAFORT, JR.,shall forfeit to the United Statesany property,real or personal, involveth
suchoffense andanypropertytraceabldo suchpropertyandanyproperty realor personalywhich
constituteor is derivedfrom proceedsraceabldo theoffense pursuanto Title 18, United States
Code, Sections981(a)(1)(A),981(a)(1)(C),and 982(a)(1),and Title 28, United StatesCode,
Section2461(c). The United Stateswill alsoseek a judgmentgainstthe defendarfor a sum of
moneyrepresentinghe propertydescribedn this paragrapl{to be offsetby theforfeiture of any
specificproperty)
69. Thepropertysubjecto forfeitureby PAUL J.MANAFORT, JR., includes, bus notlimited
to, the followinglistedassets:
a. Thereal propertyandpremisescommonly knowras377 UnionStreet,Brooklyn,
New York 11231 (Block 429, Lot 65), includingall appurtenancesmprovementsand
attachmentshereonandany propertytraceabldhereto;
b. Thereal propertyandpremisescommonly knowras29 HowardStreet #4D, New
York, NewYork 10013(Block 209,Lot 1104), includingll appurtenancegnprovements,
andattachmentshereonandany propertytraceablghereto;
C. Thereal propertyandpremisescomnonly knownas 174 Jobd ane,WaterMill,
New York 11976, includingall appurtenancesmprovementsand attachmentshereon

andany propertytraceabldhereto;
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d. All fundsheldin accounthnumberXXXXXX0969 at The FederalSavings Bank,
andany propertytraceabldheretq

e. All fundsseizedfrom account numbeXXXXXX1388 at CapitalOne N.A., and

anypropertytraceablehereto;and

f. All funds seizedfrom account numbeKXXXXX 9952 at The FederalSavings
Bank andanypropertytraceabldheretq

g. NorthwesterrMutual UniversalLife Insurancd?olicy 18268327andanyproperty

traceablehereto;

h. All fundsheldin accountnumberXXXX 7988at CharlesA. Schwab& Co. Inc.,

andany propertytraceablghereto;and

I. The real propertyand premisescommonly knavn as 1046 N. EdgewoodStreet,
Arlington, Virginia 22201, includingall appurtenancesmprovementsand attachments
thereonandany propertytraceabldhereto

Substitute Assets

70. If anyof thepropertydescribedaboveasbeingsubjectto forfeiture,asaresultof anyactor
omissionof thedefendant
a. cannot bdocatedupon theexerciseof duediligence;

b. hasbeentransferredr sold to, or depositedlith, athird party;

C. hasbeenplacedbeyond thegurisdiction of thecourt;

d. hasbeensubstantiallydiminishedin value;or

e. hasbeencommingledwith other propertyhatcannotbe subdivided without
difficulty;
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